ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 30 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County

Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JERMEL RASHOND DANIELS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001210

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred in admitting Appellant's statement to law enforcement since Appellant was subject to custodial interrogation and had not been informed of his constitutional rights pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona*¹ when he made the statement?

¹ 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 3, 2012, a Greenwood County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for obstruction of justice. R. 126 – R. 127. His case was called to trial on May 13, 2013 before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, and a jury. R. 1. George P. Callison represented Appellant. Shannon Swords Odom and Aaron Taylor were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on May 15, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 115, ll. 5-15. Judge Addy sentenced Appellant to seven years imprisonment. R. 122, ll. 5-10.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred in admitting Appellant's statement to law enforcement since Appellant was subject to custodial interrogation and had not been informed of his constitutional rights pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona* when he made the statement.

Trial Facts

During the early morning hours of May 31, 2012, Trooper Cody Bishop of the South Carolina Highway Patrol initiated a traffic stop on a vehicle that was swerving and unable to maintain its lane. Trooper Bishop testified that there were three occupants inside the vehicle and that all appeared to be "extremely fidgety." According to Trooper Bishop, there was so much "movement going on" that he could actually see "the vehicle shaking." Due to the movement and the number of occupants inside the vehicle, Trooper Bishop radioed Trooper J.C. Ashley for back up. R. 48, l. 21 – 50, l. 16.

Trooper Bishop approached the driver side of the vehicle and, when Trooper Ashley arrived, he went to the passenger side. R. 51, l. 5 – R. 52, l. 7. Trooper Ashley testified that when he approached the passenger side of the car he shined his flashlight in the backseat and saw a white Styrofoam cup. Trooper Ashley testified that he opened the rear passenger door, retrieved the Styrofoam cup, and confirmed his suspicion that it contained liquor. Ashley claimed that at that point he noticed a clear plastic bag that contained a white powdery substance located between the rear passenger door and Appellant who was sitting in the back seat. Ashley placed the plastic bag on top of the car and then ordered Appellant to get out of the car. R. 30, ll. 3-23.

Ashley claimed that as he was patting Appellant down for weapons, Appellant continued to "wiggle and struggle a little bit." He explained that while he was attempting to

gain control of Appellant's hands, Appellant allegedly grabbed the plastic bag from the top of the car and put it in his pocket. Trooper Bishop eventually came over to assist Ashley and the two placed Appellant in handcuffs behind his back. R. 30, ll. 3-23.

After placing Appellant in handcuffs, Trooper Ashley went to speak with the front seat passenger. Meanwhile, Trooper Bishop moved Appellant to the rear of the car, retrieved the plastic bag from Appellant's pocket, and placed it on top of the trunk. Trooper Bishop testified that as he was speaking with Appellant, who had his back to the trunk, Appellant somehow, with his hands handcuffed behind his back, grabbed the bag off the trunk and put it in his mouth. Bishop testified, "He did not grab it off the trunk with his mouth. He removed that substance off the trunk of the vehicle, or the vehicle in which he was riding, bent over, placed it in his mouth, and I observed everything, every bit of it." Bishop ordered Appellant to "spit it out," but Appellant allegedly swallowed the bag. R. 54, l. 21 – 92, l. 15.

According to Trooper Ashley, the bag contained a quantity of what "appeared to be cocaine" about the size of a dime. R. 30, l. 24 – 67, l. 1. Trooper Bishop also testified that through his training and experience he believed the substance to be cocaine. R. 56, ll. 1-10. However, the substance was never field tested. R. 39, ll. 3-4.

After Appellant allegedly swallowed the bag, the officers called EMS and Appellant was transported to the hospital. Appellant stayed in the hospital for one to two days, but apparently never passed the plastic bag. R. 41, l. 21 – 42, l. 13; R. 77, l. 8 – 78, l. 16.

Jackson v. Denno² Hearing

Defense counsel moved pretrial to exclude any testimony regarding Appellant's statement to law enforcement made while he was in custody, but before he had been informed of his constitutional rights pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436. Defense counsel argued that since Appellant was in handcuffs, there is "no question" that he was in custody. Defense counsel further argued that before Appellant was informed of his rights, law enforcement asked him a question and Appellant responded. R. 2, l. 7 – 3, l. 25.

Trooper Bishop testified during the hearing that after Appellant was ordered out of the vehicle he was placed in handcuffs with his hands behind his back. R. 10, ll. 13-23. Bishop explained that after Appellant allegedly swallowed the plastic bag containing what Bishop believed to be cocaine, he asked Appellant, "**Why did you do that?**" and *at least twice*, "**Do you think that's going to help you?**". R. 12, l. 9 – 13, l. 15. Bishop claimed that after he asked Appellant those questions, Appellant responded, "It was just a little coke. Hell. Now you have no evidence." *Id.* Bishop testified that when he asked Appellant those questions he was not "eliciting a response." He claimed that he was "merely making statements in the heat of a moment . . . that could be perceived as a question. But [he] wasn't looking for a response at all." R. 15, l. 22 – 16, l. 3.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the state conceded that Appellant was in custody for purposes of Miranda. The solicitor stated, "[H]e was definitely in custody. I mean, he was in cuffs. He was in investigative detention." R. 19, ll. 3-6. The solicitor argued, however, that Trooper Bishop's "rhetorical questions" did not fall into the category of

² 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

“words or actions . . . that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from suspect.” The solicitor concluded that Appellant was not being interrogated and, therefore, the police were not required to inform Appellant of his Miranda rights. The solicitor also pointed out that Appellant’s statement was made ten to fifteen seconds after Trooper Bishop’s questions and thus, even if it was an interrogation, the interrogation had ended at the time Appellant made the statement. R. 19, l. 7 – 20, l. 9.

Defense counsel argued, “I think it’s clear, obviously -- and the solicitor agrees -- that [Appellant] was in custody, handcuffed, highly intoxicated, asked a series of questions: ‘Why did you do that? Do you think that’s going to help you? Do you think that’s going to help you?’ several ‘Spit it out. Spit it out’ as they’re holding him. You know, if that’s not interrogation, I mean . . . that’s about as -- you know, as interrogating as you can get.” R. 20, ll. 16-24.

The court ultimately ruled that Appellant’s statement was admissible because it found the statement was not made in response to any interrogation. The court held, “It is clear to me, from the video, as well as from the testimony, that the officer’s reaction to [Appellant] swallowing the items was merely rhetorical . . . it may have been in [the] form of a question, but it was more of a declaratory statement by the officer, as opposed to an effort to elicit information by way of questioning.” R. 21, l. 5 – 22, l. 19.

Discussion

The court erred in admitting Appellant’s statement to Trooper Bishop since Appellant was subject to custodial interrogation and had not been informed of his constitutional rights pursuant to Miranda when he made the statement.

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. at 376, the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda. State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007).

As explained by the United States Supreme Court, “[p]rior to any questioning, the person must be warned that he has the right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, either retained or appointed.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444.

However, the use of these safeguards is required only when the accused is in custodial interrogation. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 445; see also State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996). The United States Supreme Court defined custodial interrogation as “questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.” Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 428 (1984) (citing Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444); Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318, 322 (1994); Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 495 (1977). “Interrogation is either express questioning or its functional equivalent. It includes words or actions on the part of police that the police . . . should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.” State v. Ledford, 351 S.C. 83, 88, 567 S.E.2d 904, 907 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 431, 510 S.E.2d 714, 716 (1998)).

“It is settled that the safeguards prescribed by Miranda become applicable as soon as a suspect’s freedom of action is curtailed to a ‘degree associated with formal arrest.’ If a motorist who has been detained pursuant to a traffic stop thereafter is subject to treatment that renders him ‘in custody’ for practical purposes, he will be entitled to the full panoply of protections prescribed by Miranda.” McCarty, 468 U.S. at 440.

In this case, while Appellant was not initially in custody during the traffic stop, as soon as he was placed in handcuffs with his hands behind his back, which is “associated with formal arrest,” he was in custody for purposes of Miranda. See Id. The state **conceded** this at trial. See R. 19, ll. 3-6.

Not only was Appellant in custody at the time he allegedly made the statement to law enforcement, his statement was also made in direct response to Trooper Bishop’s questioning, specifically, “Why did you do that?” and “Do you think that’s going to help you?” See R. 12, l. 9 – 13, l. 15. Bishop should have known his questions were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from Appellant. See Ledford, 351 S.C. at 88, 567 S.E.2d at 907.

In Furnish v. Indiana, 779 N.E.2d 576 (Ind. Ct. App. 2002), the defendant was being chased by the police after the police observed him walking around the Save-On Liquor Store at 4:20 am. Id. at 577. Upon catching the defendant and placing him in handcuffs, the police found a significant amount of money wrapped in bank wrappers in his boot. One of the officers who apprehended the defendant stated, “Damn, Delbert, where’d you get all the money” to which the defendant replied, “Save-On.” Id. Despite the state’s argument that the officer was merely making an observation and was not eliciting a response, the Indiana

Court of Appeals held that this constituted custodial interrogation and remanded the case for a new trial. Id. at 580-582.

The facts in Furnish are similar to the facts in this case in that the officer alleged he asked the defendant a “rhetorical question” in which he claimed he was not attempting to elicit a criminal response. Id. at 581. This Court should likewise find that Appellant was subject to custodial interrogation at the time he made the statement to law enforcement because he was clearly in custody and was being questioned by Trooper Bishop.

Again, the state conceded at trial that Appellant was in custody for purposes of Miranda and, while Appellant was in custody, Bishop repeatedly asked, “Why did you do that?” and “Do you think that’s going to help you?” Despite Trooper Bishop’s testimony that he was merely expressing that Appellant made a dumb move, a fair reading of the record indicates that Trooper Bishop’s should have known that his questioning was likely to elicit a criminal response. A reasonable person in Bishop’s position would have known such questioning was likely to elicit a criminal response from Appellant.

The error of admitting Appellant’s statement to law enforcement was not harmless. The solicitor repeatedly emphasized Appellant’s statement during her closing argument. She argued, “And then you can . . . hear him on the video, especially if you listen closely: ‘It was just a bag of coke. Now you ain’t got no evidence.’ Trooper Bishop testified to that: just a bag of coke. There should be no doubt in your mind. This should be a guilty. This is a guilty.” R. 86, ll. 11-15.

Additionally, the jury sent out several notes during its deliberation indicating its difficulty in reaching a verdict. The first note read, “Can we re-watch the video – the part where admits cocaine?” R. 105, ll. 14-17; Court’s Exhibit No. 1. After watching a portion

of the video of the traffic stop, the jury sent out a second note. That note read, "Can we please watch the video where he is first out of the car and the contraband is on the roof of car? Until the handcuffs. On the charge of obstruction of justice is it at any point in the video?" R. 108, ll. 13-25; Court's Exhibit No. 2.