ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001210

RECEIVED
JUN 20 2014
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

JERMEL RASHOND DANIELS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 1871

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly admitted Appellant's incriminating statement because the statement was not made in response to a custodial interrogation.

Appellant contends the statement should not have been admitted because he was subject to a custodial interrogation and had not been informed of his constitutional rights pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1996), when he made the statement. However, Appellant's argument fails for two reasons. First, Appellant did not preserve the issue for appellate review. Second, even though the State conceded Appellant was in custody at the time he offered the statement, Trooper Bishop's rhetorical, exclamatory statements were not interrogation.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Decisions to admit or exclude evidence rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). "A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice." State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). "Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict." State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). "On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to

show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998). “[T]he appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based upon its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 652 S.E.2d 444 (2008).

Analysis

A. Error Preservation

Defense counsel did not properly object to the issue at trial because Trooper Ashley was an intervening witness between the trial court’s pretrial ruling and the introduction of the disputed evidence at trial during Trooper Bishop’s testimony. Furthermore, although defense counsel made an objection to the State’s question to Trooper Ashley during trial regarding whether he heard Appellant “mention anything about coke or cocaine,” the objection did not address the Miranda issue in “a sufficiently specific manner that brought attention to the exact error.” See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). Thus, the issue of whether Trooper Bishop’s remarks qualify as interrogation was not preserved for appellate review.

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). The failure to object when evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the issue on appeal. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review. State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994)

(objection to testimony was broadly made and well after initial, allegedly prejudicial, testimony).

“Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pretrial ruling preventing the disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury.” State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 460 S.E.2d 409 (1995). In most cases, making a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a *motion in limine* is not a final determination; rather, it is preliminary and subject to change based upon developments at trial. State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 526, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438-39 (Ct. App. 2004); State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct.App. 2002). Thus, the moving party must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced. Wood, 362 S.C. at 526, 608 S.E.2d at 439; see also State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 193 n. 3, 498 S.E.2d 642, 644 n. 3 (1998) (“We have consistently held a ruling *in limine* is not final, and unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review.”) (citation omitted). “However, where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection.” Wood, 362 S.C. at 527, 608 S.E.2d at 439 (quoting Forrester, 343 S.C. at 642, 541 S.E.2d at 840) (emphasis added); see also State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 486 S.E.2d 762 (Ct.App.1997) (noting the general rule that a court's ruling on *in limine* motion is not a final decision, but applying State v. Mueller and holding that where objection is made during trial and there are no intervening witnesses before the disputed testimony, the decision is final and the objection need not be renewed). Pretrial *in limine* proceedings are “granted to prevent

prejudicial matter from being revealed to the jury, but do not constitute final rulings on the admissibility of evidence.” State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 521, 369 S.E.2d 842, 843 (1988).

In Forrester, the State argued the issue of the appellant’s consent to search was not preserved for appellate review. 343 S.C. at 643, 541 S.E.2d at 840. The Supreme Court of South Carolina disagreed with the State and reasoned because neither party presented intervening evidence between the pretrial ruling on the admissibility of the evidence and the evidence presented at trial, the trial court did not have an opportunity to change its ruling. Id. Consequently, the appellant’s failure to object a second time to the introduction of the evidence at issue did not preclude the issue to be properly preserved for appellate review. Id.

Similarly, in Wood, the Supreme Court of South Carolina noted the State presented the testimony sought to be excluded at the beginning of trial, immediately after the judge ruled on the issue. Wood, 362 S.C. at 527, 608 S.E.2d at 439. Thus, the Court deemed the motion to be a final ruling as opposed to a motion *in limine*. Id. Since the motion was deemed a motion *in limine*, the appellant was not required to make an objection when the evidence was submitted and the issue was preserved for appellate review. Id.

Here, following the Jackson v. Denno hearing requested by Appellant, the trial court ruled Appellant’s incriminating statement was admissible. However, defense counsel failed to make an objection when the evidence was actually presented at trial. In contrast to Forrester and Wood, the State called Trooper Ashley to the stand as its first witness at trial. Since the State presented Trooper Ashley as an intervening witness

between the pretrial hearing and Trooper Bishop's testimony at trial, the ruling from pretrial hearing is considered one made *in limine* because the trial court had an opportunity to change its pretrial ruling. Consequently, Appellant was required to object to the Miranda issue during Trooper Bishop's testimony at trial. As a result, defense counsel failed to preserve the issue because he did not make a contemporaneous objection concerning the Miranda issue when Trooper Bishop testified regarding Appellant's incriminating statement. (R. pp. 59 – 60). Thus, Appellant did not properly preserve the issue for appellate review. Moreover, the objection made by Appellant during Trooper Ashley's testimony at trial was based upon the fact Ashley previously testified that he did not hear anything and not on the ground the statement violated Miranda. (R. p. 44).

B. Miranda Interrogation Requirement

Even if this Court finds the issue preserved for appellate review, Respondent submits that the trial court properly admitted Appellant's statement finding Appellant was not subject to an interrogation at the time he made the statement. The findings of the trial court in this regard are supported by the record and must be affirmed by this Court.

The Miranda warnings are designed to protect several constitutional rights of an accused, most importantly, the privilege against self-incrimination. State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 374 S.C.2d 284 (1988). In order to assure that an accused's right to remain silent is not compromised during custodial interrogation, the United States Supreme Court ruled that “[p]rior to any questioning, the person must be warned that he has a right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, either retained or appointed.”

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). “A statement, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the person was advised of and voluntarily waived his rights under Miranda” State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 302, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996) aff’d as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998).

The special procedural safeguards outlined in Miranda are not required if a suspect is simply taken into custody, but only if a suspect in custody is subjected to interrogation. State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996) aff’d as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998). The interrogation requirement of Miranda is met by express questioning or its functional equivalent, and includes words or actions the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit incriminating responses from a criminal suspect. Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 100 S. Ct. 1682, 64 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1980); State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 382 S.E.2d 911 (1989); State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998). Volunteered statements not made in response to custodial interrogation do not require Miranda warnings. Arizona v. Mauro, 481 U.S. 520, 107 S. Ct. 1931, 95 L. Ed. 2d 458 (1987); Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 488, 374 S.E.2d 284, 288 (1988). Miranda warnings are inapplicable to volunteered statements not the product of interrogation. State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 382 S.E.2d 911 (1989). In Howard, the court stated:

In formulating a definition of interrogation, the [Innis] Court pointed out that “the concern of the Court in Miranda was that the ‘interrogation environment’ created by the interplay of interrogation and custody would ‘subjugate the individual to the will of his examiner’ and thereby undermine the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination.” The Court noted that interrogation must reflect a measure of compulsion above and beyond that inherent in custody itself.

State v. Howard, 296 S.C. at 488, 374 S.E.2d at 288 (emphasis added).

When courts make an objective determination of whether police statements would be perceived as interrogation by a reasonable person in the same circumstances, courts have distinguished between statements that merely rephrase a defendant's remarks or constitute rhetorical questions, see Commonwealth v. Foley, 445 Mass. 1001, 1002–1003, 833 N.E.2d 130 (2005), cert. denied, 548 U.S. 927, 126 S.Ct. 2980, 165 L.Ed.2d 990 (2006), and those that are aimed at eliciting information likely to be incriminating. See Commonwealth v. Larkin, 429 Mass. 426, 432, 708 N.E.2d 674 (1999). Commonwealth v. Martin, 467 Mass. 291, 309 (2014). Compare Commonwealth v. Mitchell, 47 Mass.App.Ct. 178, 180–181, 711 N.E.2d 924 (1999) (statement commenting on poor timing of defendant's arrest merely an “observation”), with Commonwealth v. Chadwick, 40 Mass.App.Ct. 425, 428, 664 N.E.2d 874 (1996) (officer's statement disputing defendant's denial of rape charges was functional equivalent of custodial interrogation). Martin, 467 Mass. 291 at 309.

In Foley, following the defendant's arrest, the defendant was loud, screaming, and “motioning aggressively” while he was handcuffed in the backseat of a police car. 445 Mass. at 1002, 833 N.E.2d at 133. Observing the defendant's antics, an officer commented: “You seem pissed off...[a]re you having a rough day man?” Id. In response, the defendant exclaimed: “I choked her out, but she deserved it” and “I should beat her f'ing brains in.” Id. The defendant argued his statements should be excluded because he made the statements in response to interrogation before being advised of his Miranda rights. Id. The court concluded the officer's question was merely rhetorical.

Thus, the officer's question did not constitute the functional equivalent of interrogation and was not likely to elicit an incriminating response. Id. at 1003.

In Smith v. United States, an inmate convicted of various weapons offenses in a penal institution challenged the admissibility of his statement to a corrections officer, which he contended was a product of custodial interrogation obtained without Miranda warnings. 586 A.2d 684 (D.C. Cir. 1991). The corrections officer conducted a "property check" on the appellant to ensure the appellant did not carry contraband into the halfway house. Id. at 685. The corrections officer became suspicious of the shoe box that appellant left on his bathroom floor because the appellant seemed to be concealing the shoebox from the officer. Id. After a struggle ensued with the appellant, the officer eventually opened the shoebox and observed that it contained a handgun, ammunition, and a clip. Id. In shock, the officer yelled: "Man, are you crazy. You got a gun in here. What the hell are you going to do with a gun in here?" Id. The appellant responded: "I need it to protect myself." Id. The District of Columbia Court of Appeals characterized the officer's remark as an "instinctive question" asked ". . . reflexively in a context of wonderment," as opposed to one that would be likely to elicit an incriminating response. Id. The court noted the officer's question – more in the nature of an exclamation than a question – was a "reflex reaction" to his discovery of a gun inside the box that appellant brought into the halfway house, and did not qualify as interrogation for purposes of Miranda. Id.

Similar to the officer's question in Foley, Trooper Bishop's question was merely rhetorical. Also, analogous to the correction officer's remarks in Smith, Trooper Bishop's response to Appellant's unusual act of swallowing a plastic bag was instinctive,

reflexive, and made “in a context of wonderment.” The Supreme Court of the United States noted in Innis one of the main purposes of Miranda warnings is to protect against a compulsive “interrogation environment” that subjects the individual “to the will of his examiner.” Howard, 296 S.C. at 488, 374 S.E.2d at 288. Trooper Bishop’s spontaneous, reflexive remarks do not create the “interrogation” environment the Supreme Court of the United States envisioned to prevent. See Smith, 586 A.2d at 686 (“we regard appellant’s ‘instantaneous response’ as ‘more akin to a volunteered statement which Miranda deems admissible than an incriminatory statement wrung from an accused [whose will] is overborne” [internal citations omitted]). Trooper Bishop’s statements were not made with the intention of interrogating Appellant but were rhetorical, unpremeditated exclamations of alarm made in the heat of the moment and which did not call for an answer or invite an incriminating response. U.S. v. Johnson, 734 F.3d 270 (4th Cir. 2013); U.S. v. Farlee, 910 F.Supp2d 1174 (D.S.Dakota 2012); Wert v. State, 383 S.W.3d 747 (TX 2012).

Thus, the trial court properly concluded that Appellant did not make the statements in response to interrogation and were admissible.

C. Harmless Error

Moreover, error, if any, in refusing to suppress the statements in question is harmless because the record before this court contains sufficient evidence of Appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Lynch, 375 S.C. 628, 654 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2007)(stating that any error in failing to suppress evidence for possible Miranda violations is harmless if the record before the appellate court contains sufficient evidence

to prove Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt). The record contains the direct eyewitness testimony of both officers present at the scene who testified that they saw a baggie containing cocaine and that after a repeated attempt, Appellant was successful in grabbing the baggie and swallowing it with no other purpose than destroying the evidence and obstructing justice. Appellant's overwhelming evidence of guilt renders any possibility of a Miranda violation harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.